Securities and Exchange Commission v. Loomis et al
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE Civ. No. S-10-458 KIJM KJN
COMMISION,
Plaintiff,
ORDER
V.

LAWRENCE “LEE” LOOMIS,

Defendant.

A motion for remedies filed by thee8urities and Exchange Commission (SEC
against defendant Lawrence “Lee” Loomis (Loomis) is currently pending before the court.
motion was submitted without argument and the court now GRANTS the motion in part an
DENIES it in part.

. BACKGROUND

On February 23, 2010, the SEC filed a ctamy against Loomis, Loomis Wealt}
Solutions (LWS), LLC, John Hagener, and LisrRarancial Services, LLC (defendants), alleg
the defendants had misappropriated approxim&E0 million from investors through the
fraudulent sale of intereststine Naras Funds. ECF No. 1 1. The complaint is comprised
six claims: (1) violations of Section 10(bf)the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C.
8 78j(b) and Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 agaihgdefendants; (2) wlations of Section
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17(a)(1) of the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. 8§ &yq@ainst all defendant(3) violations of
Sections 17(a)(2) and (3) of tBecurities Act, 15 U.S.C. § d{&)(2) against all defendants;
(4) violations of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of thecurities Act, 15 U.S.C. 88 77e(a) and 77e (c)
against all defendants; (5) violat® of Section 206(1) and 206(@)the Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C
8 89b-6(a), against Hagener and Lanand (6) violations of Seot 206(4) of the Advisers Act
15 U.S.C. 8 206(4), 15 U.S.C. § 806b-6(43iagt Hagener and Lismar. ECF No. 1.

On June 10, 2010, the Clerk of the Court erttelefaults as to Lismar and LWS
ECF No. 16. The court denied the SEC’s motior default judgments without prejudice to a
later renewal. ECF Nos. 23, 25.

On May 3, 2011, Hagener filed a motiorstay the case pending resolution of

criminal charges. ECF No. 30. After furtheopeedings, the court ultimately denied the motjon

for a stay on February 24, 2012. ECF No. 52.

On February 13, 2013, the SEC filed a motion for summary judgment againg
Loomis and Hagener, alleging that Loomis hamlated the following provisions of the securiti
laws: (1) Section 10(b) and RuULOb-5 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange A
and Section 17(a)(1) of the Seities Act of 1933 (Securities Acby knowingly or recklessly
making material misstatements and omissiorte@éanvestors in Naras Secured Funds, LLC
(Naras Fund 1) and Naras Secured Fund #2gdFund 2) and by knowingly or recklessly
engaging in a fraudulent scheme; (2) Sectibi®)(2) and (3) of the Securities Act by
negligently making material misstatements andssians to the Naras Funds 1 and 2 investor
and by negligently engaging in a fraudulent sobeand (3) Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the
Securities Act by offering and selling Narasnid 1 securities and Naras Fund 2 securities in
interstate commerce without finggistering the offers and sale@gh the SEC and without havir
an exemption from registration. ECF No. 62atThe motion raised additional claims againsit
Hagener.

On March 5, 2013, defendant filedreotion for an extension of time and
appointment of counsel. ECF No. 73. The cetayed the motion as to Loomis until resolutig
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of his motion for the expansion of the appointmafritis counsel in the criminal case. ECF
No. 70.

On March 6, 2013, the SEC and Hagener submitted a stipulation for an injur
and on March 13, 2013, the SEC filed a notice thafdrar’s consent to the injunction resolve
the summary judgment motion as to him. BO#S. 69, 71. The court issued the order of
injunction as to Hagener on April 15, 2013. ECF No. 82.

On April 1, 2013, counsel appeared on bebalioomis and thereafter the partie
stipulated to new dates for hearing onsbenmary judgment motion. ECF Nos. 79, 81. After
the opposition and reply had been filed on the summary judgment motion, Loomis filed a 1
to stay the motion. ECF Nos. 86, 88. The cdartied the requestedagtwithout prejudice on
August 27, 2013.

On September 3, 2013, the court granted the SEC’s motion for summary jud
on the following grounds: (1) Loomis violat&dile 10b-5 and Section 17(a)(1) by informing

investors that the Naras loan funds were sechyesecond mortgages, thhe investments were
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highly liquid and had a twelve percent rate of net{2) Loomis engaged in a scheme to defraud

in violation of Rule 10b-5, subparts (a) and @r)d Section 17(a), subparts (1) and (3), by
misrepresenting the solvency of the Naraads while accepting money from new investors t(
use as payments to older investors; and Loomisitad Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securitie
Act by offering unregistereslecurities for sale.

On March 11, 2014, the SEC filed a motion for remedies against Loomis. E(

No. 108. Defendant’s untimely opposition was fiedApril 3 and the SEC'’s reply was filed on

April 4, 2013. ECF Nos. 112, 113.
[I. ANALYSIS

The SEC seeks three remedies: a peemiainjunction against further securitieg
violations by Loomis; disgorgement of $11,695,84i8ed from Naras investors plus prejudgm
interest of $2,575,426 for a tbtaf $14,271,426; and monetaognalties of $273,000. ECF No
108-1.
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Defendant concedes he is subjea fwermanent injunction based on the court’s

ruling on summary judgment and his continued invacetf his right to remain silent. He argt
disgorgement is improper because he no longethiegasioney, either because it was used to f
his other business tties or was forfeited by the order imited States v. Approximately
$133,803.53 in U.S. Currenc@iv. No. S-09-461 TLN, and becsaithe evidence on summary
judgment was insufficient to show that all Naras investors were dettaldeally, he claims
imposing a civil penalty would penalize his invtioa of the right to reain silent and would
constitute an excessive fineviolation of the Eighth AmendmentHe cites no case authority f
any of his arguments.

In reply, the SEC says disgorgemerdppropriate even though Loomis does n(
have any of the money and that in its summadgment order, the court found Loomis had
consistently made material misrepresentationsuestors. It alsargues the proposed civil
penalty is not congtitionally excessive.

A. The Injunction

Under both 15 U.S.C. 88 77t(b) and 78u(b), the SEC may seek a permanent
injunction against a person who has violated sees laws; it bears #hburden of showing “a
reasonable likelihood of future violation§the securities laws . . . ."SEC v. Fehn97 F. 3d
1276, 1295 (9th Cir. 1996) (quotiREC v. Murphy626 F. 2d 633, 655 (9th Cir. 1980)). In

evaluating the likelihood of futurealiations, the court must consider:

‘(1) the degree of scienter involved; (2) the isolated or recurrent
nature of the infraction; (3) ¢h defendant’s recognition of the
wrongful nature of his conduct; (4) the likelihood, because of
defendant’s professional occupatjothat future violations might
occur; (5) and the sincerity ofiis assurances against future
violations.’

Id. at 1295-96 (quotinlylurphy, 626 F.2d at 655). This court has discretion to grant or deny
request for injunctive reliefSEC v. Goldfield Deep Mines Co. of N&k8 F.2d 459, 465 (9th
Cir. 1985);SEC v. Alpha Telcom, Incd87 F. Supp. 2d 1250, 1262 (D. Or. 20@2firmed by
SEC v. Rubera50 F.3d 1084 (9th Cir. 2003).
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As noted in the order on summamglgment, Loomis solicited over $11 million
from investors from March 2007 through Aug@608, representing that the investments werg
secured by second mortgages even though he wae #vegrwere not. ECF No. 97 at 9-10.
also told investors there was a gugeed rate of return and thaivestments could be redeeme
quickly. Id. at 12-13. Loomis thus acted with a higlye of scienter @r a period of time,
factors favoring the issuance of the injunctioBee, e.g. SEC v. Abell&gv4 F. Supp. 2d 1213,
1220-21 (W.D. Wash. 2009) (finding féedant acted with high degreéscienter when he side
stepped registration requirements in ordengmipulate demand, deceived the public and cau
tangible financial lossesgEC v. Cross Fin. Sery908 F. Supp. 718, 720, 734 (C.D. Cal. 199
(defendants acted with high degidescienter in telling investotiiey would use funds to engag
in factoring accounts receivabtbat the annual returns would between 15 and 20 percent, a
the investments were low risk when in fdwy did not factor any accounts; their knowing
orchestration of and parti@gon in the scheme showgyh degree of scienter).

Loomis has never acknowledged thet actions werarrong, expressed any
remorse, or suggested thatvé not engage in future viakions, as he relies on his Fifth
Amendment right to remain silentBecause the court is not alideevaluate whether Loomis’s
current attitude suggests future violation, thiasgors favor an injuncti@ but only slightly in
light of Loomis’s Fifth Amendment rights.

Loomis is currently detained and fagicharges of mail and wire fraud carrying
substantial penalties; the caseseas for trial orOctober 6, 2014United States v. Lee Loomis

Cr. No. S-12-315 JAM, ECF Nos. 103, 117. Nelwveleess courts have enjoined people from

future securities violationdespite imprisonmentSee, e.gSEC v. Bravata _ F. Supp.2d |

2014 WL 897348, at *21 (E.D. Mich. Mar. 6, 20Xéntering permanent injunction based on t
fact that defendants “likely will have a chancetonmit future violations when released from
prison”); SEC v. Lion Capital Mgmt., LLQNo. C 12-05116 WHA2013 WL 5945081, at *3
(N.D. Cal. Nov. 1, 2013) (entering a permanefinotion even though the defendant was ser
a sentence and would likelbe deported upon releas8EC v. ZafarNo. 06—-CV-1578

(JG)(MDG), 2009 WL 129492, at *6 (E.D.N.Y.nRa&0, 2009) (enjoining person who was ther
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serving a sentence even though ¢h&as no indication he would retuto a profession conduciv

to securities fraudSEC v. Musellg578 F. Supp. 425, 445 (S.D.N.Y. 1984) (“[T]he inquiry gq

to predilection rather than immediate probability.As Loomis’s ultimate sentence, if any, has

not been determined, thiadtor favors the injunction.

Based on consideration of the relevators, the court finds the SEC has borne

its burden of justifying the entrof a permanent injunction.
B. Disgorgement and Prejudgment Interest
“[A] district court has broad equity powers to order disgorgement of ill-gotter
gains obtained through the violatiohthe securities laws. Disgorgement is designed to depr
wrongdoer of unjust enrichment, and to deter &tfiem violating securities laws by making
violations unprofitable.” SEC v. Platform Wireless Int’l Corps17 F.3d 1072, 1096 (9th Cir.
2010) (quotingSEC v. First Pac. Bancorpl42 F.3d 1186, 1191 (9th Cir. 1998)). The SEC b
the burden of showing the causal relathip between the wrongdoing and the fulsisC v. One
or More Unknown Traders853 F. Supp. 2d 79, 83 (D.D.C. 2012), and of showing that the

disgorgement figure “reasohly approximates the amount of unjust enrichmen®latform

Wireless 617 F.3d at 1096 (quotir®EC v. First City Fin. Corp 890 F.2d 1215, 1232 (D.C. Cir.

1989)). A court may order disgorgement evenefiolator “is no longein possession of such
funds due to subsequent, unsuccessful investments or other forms of discretionary spendi
SEC v. JT Wallenbrock & Assoc440 F.3d 1109, 1115-16 (9th Cir. 2006) (quOoBEELC v.
Thomas James Assocs38 F. Supp. 88, 95 (W.D.N.Y. 1990 Moreover, when parties
“unlawfully received money from investors by dibtiting unregistered secties . . . . [t]his was
the rough equivalent of receiving anterest free loan’ fromnivestors,” and so “[tlhe proper
measurement of the benefit of thean’ is the interest rate ¢hdefendants would have otherwis
paid to finance their business operatianth a comparable, unsecured loalatform Wireless
617 F.3d at 1099.

The SEC has presented the declaratioiorensic accountant Caroline Van Alst
who reviewed records of the Naras | and Il Funds@kas of other entitethat received funds

from the Naras Funds. Decl. of Caroline \Aet, ECF No. 108-2 | 1, 6Van Alst concluded
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that the primary source of cash in the Naras Fwadsinvestor cash and the primary use of th
cash was transfers to and on behalf of Loomigies, such as LWS faeal estate purchasing
activity, or to Hagener and Lismaid. 9. The thirty investors iNaras |, excluding Lismar,
provided $1,303,083.97 and the eigbtye investors in Nards again excluding Lismar,
provided $10,392,756.33.

Documents from Loomis’s outside accting and auditing firm Francis, Scinto ¢
Graziano, LLP, show that Loomis controlled a number of entities in addition to LWS: Adveé
Financial Group, Advantage Financial Partners, LLC-East, Advantage Financial Partners,
West, Nationwide Lending Group, Shasta Eqtixghange, AFG Information Technologies,
G&L Real Estate Group, JP Realtydap, LLC and Advantage Plan Plugl.  11. Van Alst
determined that through “loansia transfers from the two Naraarkls to Loomis entities, ther
was a total cash disbursement of $8,003,8271@01 13. Van Alst says the money transferre(

from the Naras Funds to the various Looemsities was used to pay operating expenses.

9 15. This is borne out by evidence submittedonnection with the SEC’s motion for summary

judgment. Karen White, the former controliédrAdvantage Financial Partners-West, averred
when she did not have sufficient cash to pay AHRHlls, Loomis would direct her or another

employee to ask Hagener to transfer monegnfthe Naras Funds to the impecunious Loomis

at
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entities. Decl. of Karen White, ECF No. 64-19 {%.2She rarely transferred money back to the

Naras Funds as interest payments on the “loalas.{ 7.

In JT Wallenbrockthe defendants raised money from investors through the
fraudulent sale of unregistered promissory natas first deposited it in one of the group’s
business checking accounts. 440 F.3d at 1111Fi@n the funds so deposited, they paid
investors “returns” to maintain the illusion thexre investing the money as promised; used
some of it to cover #ir operating expenses and persongkeases; and invested some of the
money to fund numerous start-up companids.at 1112. The district court ordered
1
1
1
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disgorgement of the entire proceeds of the mehdess the money paid to investors, plus

prejudgment interestid. at 1113. The Ninth Circuit affirmed, noting that

[tlhe essence of the defendantsheme was to obtain investors’
money under false pretenses ander to fund the defendants’
business ventures. Rather thaut their own money at risk, the
defendants benefitted from the use of investors’ money to spend at
defendants’ discretion—whetheto cover operating expenses,
invest in start-up companies, pay personal expenses or pay fake
returns to investors to perpdawgathe fraud. . . . Given these
circumstances, all 253.2 million obtained from investors was an ill-
gotten gain that unjustgnriched the defendants.

Id. at 1114. In this case, asliyéhe court found Loomis profiteilom the sale of unregistered
securities and from material snepresentations about the s#guand profitability of the
investments, made to all invesipnot just the four who subtted declarations in support of
summary judgment. ECF No. 97 at 9-16o0mis similarly profited from the use of the
investors’ money and so should dheected to disgorge thoserfds, along with the interest he
avoided by using those funds as an interest-free I8ae.SEC v. Abacus Int'l Holding Carp
No. C 99-02191, 2001 WL 940913, at *5 (N.D. Galg. 16, 2001) (“In assessing whether to
order prejudgment intesg the Court may consider the degof personal wrongdoing on the p
of the defendant.”).

Nevertheless, in connection witk rhotion for summary judgment, the SEC

presented evidence, that iadrtional-Ponzi-scheme-fashion, Loomis and Hagener did use s

new investors’ payments to pay fake returns tezanvestors. Decl. of Caroline Van Alst, EC

No. 64-18 1 16-17 & Exs. C & D. In exercisingequitable powers teprive a wrongdoer g
unjust enrichment,Platform Wireless617 F.3d at 1096, the court deelato order disgorgeme
of that portion of investors’ funds Loomis usedtry lulling “returns” toother investors. The
SEC is thus directed to provide updatepiifes, showing how much of the $11,695,840 raise
from Naras investors was returned to otherddanvestors and to calculate the prejudgment
interest based on that figure.

C. Civil Penalties

The securities laws provide for civil mdaagy penalties in three tiers. A court m
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impose third tier penalties when the violations “involved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or deliberate
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or reckless disregard of a regulgt requirement [and] such vation directly or indirectly
resulted in substantial losses .”. 15 U.S.C. 8 78u(d)(3)(Ckee alsdl5 U.S.C. 8§ 77t(d)(2)(C).
A third-tier penalty “shall not eceed the greater amount of $110,000 for a natural person . .
the gross amount of pecuniary génsuch defendant as a ritsaf the violation . . . .”Id. For
violations occurring after Bguary 15, 2005 and before February 25, 2009, the maximum th
tier penalty for an individual is $130,008ravatg 2014 WL 897348, at *22 . In addition, the
maximum penalty at the firsi, for violations not involvingcienter, is $6500. 15 U.S.C. §
77t(d)(2)(A); 17 C.F.R. § 201.1004. The SEC asks the court to impose a $130,000 penalt
Loomis’s violation of Sectiod0(b), a separate $130,000 penédtyviolation of Section 17(a),
and two $6,500 penalties for his violationsSefctions 5(a) and &), for a total of $273,000.

A district court has discretion to imposieil penalties for securities violations.
SEC v. Pentagon Capital Mgmt. PLZ25 F.3d 279, 287 (2d Cir. 2013}ourts in the Ninth
Circuit sometimes consider tiehnfactors in deciding whethercavil penalty is appropriate.
See SEC v. Wild&lo. SACV 11-0315 DOC(AJWx), 2012 WL 6621747, at *16 (C.D. Cal
Dec. 17, 2012) (citinfrehn 97 F.3d at 1295-96). The court malgo consider “other sanctions
the defendant faces, whether criminal or civiBEC v. Church Extension of the Church of Go
Inc., 429 F. Supp. 2d 1045, 1051 (S.D. Ind. 20058);see SEC v. Henk&75 F. Supp. 2d 1075,
1086 (N.D. Cal. 2003pffirmed by130 F. App’x 173 (9th Cir2005) (unpublished) (imposing
civil penalties even though defendant Ipaid restitution following a guilty plea).

As noted above, Loomis acted with glhidegree of scienter, soliciting over $11
million in investments, which he used largelyfuad his other businesses. Nevertheless, he i
facing criminal charges carryingeipotential of a substantial tewhimprisonment, large fines,
and restitution. In adddin, money from LWS is subject to forfeitureUmited States v.
Approximately $133,803.53 in U.S. Curren€y. No. S-09-461 TLN EFB. Given the
magnitude of other civil and criminal penaltiesobais faces, the court declines to impose a ¢
penalty. Accordingly, it does not reach the question whether the imposition of a fine woulg
violate the Eighth Amendment.
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IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that within faeen days of the date of this ord
the SEC submit a proposed final judgment against Loomis, incorporating the permanent
injunction, the amount of disgorgement discussiealve and the appropraprejudgment interes
and reflecting that no divpenalties are imposed.

DATED: April 23, 2014.

UNIT TATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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